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Advisor’s statement

“ The infrastructure
story in South Africa
remains strong.”

Introduction
The 2007 financial year was, in many ways, a watershed year for
Blackstar Investors PLC (“Blackstar” or the “Company”). Despite the
turbulent market in the second half of 2007, Blackstar has managed to
deliver an excellent set of results increasing its NAV per share from 101p
at 31 December 2006 to 133p at year end. The underlying investments
performed well over the period under review showing, that despite world
market weakness, the infrastructure story in South Africa remains strong.
In addition to partially exiting two investments, Blackstar also made its
first full realisation through the sale of its Eurosteel interest to our Black
Economic Empowerment (“BEE”) partner, which was concluded in early
2008. The realisation demonstrated the Blackstar investment thesis of
identifying attractive opportunities and generating strong returns for
shareholders through participation in the BEE process.

Financial results and operating review
Blackstar has a track record of generating substantial returns and has
achieved a 51% per cent return up to 31 December 2007 (equivalent to
an IRR of 81%), on invested funds of £67 million for the year ended
31 December 2007, significantly outperforming the FTSE/JSE Africa All
Share Index the same period.
Since inception, Blackstar has increased its net assets from £75.4 million
(net capital raised) to £100.3 million thereby increasing its NAV to 133p
per share after taking into account the performance fee accrual and the
share buyback of 2.8 million shares.
During the year Blackstar made strong inroads into developing the fees
and income side of the business, generating fee income and dividend
receipts of £1.1 million during the financial year. Blackstar Managers
generates fees through providing advisory and corporate finance services
around the transactions Blackstar has concluded and these fees are
passed to Blackstar.
In line with its strategy to enhance shareholder value, Blackstar bought
back 2.8 million shares at an average price of 106p per share measured
against its NAV of 133p per share. The funding for this share buyback
came from revenue and profits generated by Blackstar’s underlying
portfolio. Blackstar will continue its share buy back programme as further
profits are realised.
Notable transaction highlights during the financial year under review include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
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The acquisition of York Timbers and subsequent take over of Global
Forest Products;
The funding of Lazarus Zim into Mvela Resources;
The leverage buy out of Kulungile Metals Group;
The realisation of our interest in Eurosteel;
The partial realisation of our interest in Myriad Medical Holdings at
more than two times our cost; and
The partial realisation of our funding BEE instrument in York Timbers.

“ South Africa is an
important market
within the emerging
market spectrum,
given its strong
resources and capital
investment
programme.”

South Africa’s good economic performance continued during the
financial year, despite a rise in interest rates and inflation. In the fourth
quarter of 2007, the South African economy grew by 5.3% annualised.
The government’s fixed investment programme assisted corporate
profitability and attracted foreign portfolio inflows into the equity market.
2008 is unlikely to match the economic performance of 2007 due to rising
interest rates and inflation, in the short term and the global credit crunch,
which will have an impact on South Africa and the JSE. South Africa is an
important market within the emerging market spectrum, given its strong
resources and capital investment programme.
The investment environment features a growing demand for goods and
services, corporate restructurings, increased government and private
sector spending on infrastructure and capital projects which will further
drive economic growth and consequently deal flow. South Africa is the
logical platform into Africa with almost three quarters of the total African
Market Capitalisation and concentrated corporate sector comprising the
bulk of African corporate activity. The last ten years have seen renewed
growth and improved governance across a number of African states.
South Africa’s recent power shortages are a concern and an opportunity.
South Africa’s economic growth has outpaced the country’s ability to
meet the demand for power. These power outages are effecting all facets
of the economy especially the mining sector. The government has
stepped up its construction of new power plants. Over seven have been
commissioned and construction has already begun. Through our
investments Blackstar expects to benefit from this spend.
The Rand remains volatile and since year end has weakened. However
more than 50% of Blackstar’s portfolio has Rand hedge qualities and
therefore benefits from Rand weakness.

Inherent net asset value
Blackstar’s inherent value per share increased from 102p at 31 December
2006 to 144p at year end. The inherent value is the net asset value
adjusted to reflect recently made unlisted investments at fair value, rather
than at cost. Please refer to Annexure A for a full breakdown of
inherent NAV.
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Advisor’s statement continued

“ Real fixed investment
spending should
grow another 13% to
16% this year. This
growth will benefit
many of Blackstar’s
investments.”

Post balance sheet events and prospects
Blackstar recently announced a transaction which will give investors
exposure to the micro lending industry in the South African financial
services sector. The transaction is structured whereby Blackstar will
provide Credit U Holdings Limited (formerly Kagisano Group Holdings
Limited) a R100 million convertible loan facility, which will give Blackstar
some optionality on the performance of Kagisano. Blackstar has made
use of its own debt facilities to finance the transaction. We believe there
are many opportunities in the micro lending sector both in terms of
growth and consolidation amongst the various industry players.
We continue to believe that attractive opportunities exist in South Africa
where investors can earn above average returns. We predict 2008 will be
a difficult year given the power shortages in South Africa and the
upheaval in the world markets. In South Africa, the government’s fixed
investment spend continues, reaching 21.2% of GDP in the third quarter
of 2007. Real fixed investment spending should grow another 13% to
16% this year. This growth will benefit many of Blackstar’s investments.
Blackstar has invested the majority of the capital it raised in 2006. The
company will continue to grow its portfolio using a combination of third
party debt and income generated from its underlying portfolios. In
addition Blackstar will look at either partial or full realisations of certain
investments where the Company has made attractive returns.

Andrew Bonamour
Luxembourg
18 March 2008
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In order to improve the
understanding of Blackstar’s
value and to gain insight
into the investment thesis,
each investment in the
portfolio has been detailed
in the following review.
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York Timber Organisation Limited (“York”)
Public buyout and empowerment partnering

Transaction overview
Date of investment

March 2007/July 2007

Leverage

2.0x

Total investment

£16.8 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

2.3x historic

Total value realised

£2.7 million

Direct equity interest

19.9%

Total profit realised

£1.9 million

Indirect equity interest via SPV

0.6%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£31.5 million

Gross return/IRR

204%/236%

York is the largest fully integrated listed timber and saw milling company
in Africa. Blackstar took York from a small £8 million company to its
current £120 million market capitalisation through the acquisition of
Global Forest Products (“GFP”).
The acquisition of GFP added 80 000 hectares of plantations to York and
helped its saw milling become more self-sufficient. The acquisition was
effective in July 2007 and since then management has worked hard on
the integration of the two companies. We remain positive on the future
of York and believe it will outperform over the next two to three years.
Forestry assets are scarce in South Africa and timber is currently in high
demand due to the fixed investment spend. We are positive on the
outlook for York and the timber market as a whole.

6

Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Mvelaphanda Resources Limited (“Mvela”)
Public opportunity and empowerment partnering

Transaction overview
Date of investment

April 2007

Leverage

4.9x

Total investment

£12.4 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

n/a

Total value realised

£85,000

Direct equity interest

0.2%

Total profit realised

£85,000

Indirect equity interest via SPV

7.7%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£20.8 million

Gross return/IRR

69%/117%

Mvela is a leading Pan African empowerment resources company.
Blackstar invested into Mvela by acquiring a 40% interest in Afripalm
Resources, a BEE special purpose vehicle which acquired 19.3%
interest in Mvela at a significant discount to the market value at the time
of the transaction.
Mvela has performed remarkably well since our investment. In late 2007,
Mvela announced its acquisition of Anglo Platinum Limited’s entire
22.3% interest in Northam Platinum Limited (“Northam”) and its 50%
effective interest in the Booysendal Platinum Project (“Booysendal”) for
R4 billion (£270 million) as well as the subsequent acquisition by
Northam of 100% of Booysendal. Mvela was able to do the deal at an
attractive discount and essentially make a handsome profit on the sale
of its interest in Booysendal to Northam. This transaction will transform
Mvela from an investment holding company to an operating one, gaining
control of the fifth largest global Platinum Group Metals producer. Our
partner in the transaction, Lazarus Zim has done a commendable job
since taking over the chairmanship of Mvela and we are expecting
further transactions from Mvela over the next 18 months. The Mvela
share price has performed strongly since year end.
Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007
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Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited (“KMG”)
Private leverage buyout

Transaction overview
Date of investment

June 2007/December 2007

Leverage

1.8x

Total investment

£19.2 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

3.4x historic

Total value realised

£186,000

Direct equity interest

49%

Total profit realised

£186,000

Gross return/IRR

20%/62%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£22.9 million

KMG is South Africa’s third largest processor, distributor and stockist of
carbon, stainless steel and aluminium. KMG services the engineering,
mining, building fabricators and component manufacturers to the
automotive industry.
Blackstar and BEE management acquired KMG via a leveraged buyout
in June 2007. The business has performed well during the year
exceeding its budget. In November, KMG acquired Global Roofing
Solutions (“GRS”). GRS represents a downstream acquisition for KMG
and enhances the KMG Group’s margins and reach. This acquisition was
in line with Blackstar’s investment thesis. As a consequence of the GRS
acquisition, Blackstar will increase its interest in the KMG Group to 60%
in 3 years time.
In December 2007 Blackstar sold 3.05% of its interest in KMG to an
investor at a higher value than its cost. Our partner in the transaction
and CEO of KMG, Sampie Van Rooyen, has done a remarkable job since
becoming CEO in June 07, outperforming budgeted EBITDA by 32%.
We are very positive on the outlook for the steel sector and further
activity is envisaged in KMG.
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DCD-Dorbyl (Pty) Limited (“DCD”)
Private leverage buyout

Transaction overview
Date of investment

April 2007

Leverage

2.8x

Total investment

£4.9 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

2.2x historic

Total value realised

£12,000

Indirect equity interest via SPV

16.7%

Total profit realised

£12,000

Gross return/IRR

13%/18%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£5.5 million

DCD supplies products and services to three sectors of the economy,
namely rail transport, heavy engineering and the marine ship repair and
offshore oil industries. DCD operates both locally and internationally and
is ideally positioned for the fixed investment spend in South Africa.
Blackstar invested alongside Investec Private Equity and a BEE partner,
Siyahamba Engineering to acquire 100% of DCD in a leveraged buyout
in April 2007.
DCD has performed well above expectations with a full order book and
has produced strong results to date, more than doubling its forecast
EBITDA in the first year of the buyout. We expect the acquisition debt to
be paid down quickly which will enhance our investment. We are still
carrying the ordinary share investment at cost due to its recent
acquisition, however we believe there is a large amount of value in this
investment. Following its audited March financial year end, a more
detailed valuation will be performed.
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Myriad Medical Holdings Limited (“Myriad”)
Pre initial public offering

Transaction overview
Date of investment

October 2006

Leverage

1.0x

Total investment

£3.7 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

4.4x historic

Total value realised

£1.1 million

Direct equity interest

14.9%

Total profit realised

£0.6 million

Indirect equity interest via SPV

6.3%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£4.7 million

Gross return/IRR

56%/54%

Myriad has seven business units representing 27 agencies and hundreds
of products focusing on the high margin anaesthesia, surgical and critical
care arena of the Medical Device Industry. Myriad is the only black
empowered medical device and surgical company in South Africa.
Since Myriad’s initial public offering, the company has made three
earnings enhancing acquisitions and has traded above its listing price.
Blackstar subscribed directly and funded the BEE special purpose
vehicle, which is headed by Dr Maki Mandela. Blackstar has sold
approximately 40% of its direct holding realising more than 2 times
money. In 2008 Blackstar will look at realising the balance of its direct
holding while retaining its BEE funding instrument.

10
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Adreach Group (Pty) Limited (“Adreach”)
Private acquisition

Transaction overview
Date of investment

November 2007

Leverage

1.0x

Total investment

£2.7 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

9.7x historic

Total value/profit realised

–

Direct equity interest via SPV

15%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£2.8 million

Adreach is recognised as one of South Africa’s largest outdoor media
owners, boasting significant BEE credentials and a presence in the local
and global outdoor media industry. Adreach has regional monopolies
through out the major cities and towns in South Africa. Adreach is an
exceptionally profitable business with strong historical cash flow and
dividend profile. Blackstar acquired a 15% interest in Adreach, investing
alongside prominent businessman Cyril Ramaphosa.
Media assets are scarce resources and therefore highly sought after in
South Africa. Worldwide media assets generally command high
premiums due to the high barriers to entry. In South Africa the
government has restricted the amount of advertising space available on
billboards and licenses for radio stations. There are many changes
happening in the local media space at the moment, Blackstar aims to
participate in this growing and changing sector through Adreach and
increase its stake in the company through the funding of acquisitions of
radio and outdoor media assets. Adreach, like other media companies,
is a fixed cost business and with an upward trend in revenue growth
through increased advertising selling space and the build up to the 2010
Soccer World Cup. This revenue goes straight to bottom line profit.
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Euro Steel Holdings (Pty) Limited (“Eurosteel”)
Private empowerment partnering

Transaction overview
Date of investment

July 2006

Leverage

1.0x

Total investment

£0.6 million

Initial entry EBITDA multiple

2.4x historic

Total value realised

£50,000

Indirect equity interest via SPV

2.5%

Total profit realised

£50,000

Gross return/IRR

58%/37%

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£0.9 million

Eurosteel was Blackstar’s first investment and is one of the smallest in
Blackstar’s portfolio. Eurosteel has performed strongly and its realisation
demonstrates Blackstar’s investment thesis of identifying attractive
opportunities and generating strong returns for shareholders through
participation in the BEE process.
Blackstar initially acquired its interest in Eurosteel in July 2006 at an
aggregate cost of £609,000 alongside Capricorn Capital Partners (Pty)
Limited, through funding a BEE consortium in a special purpose vehicle,
Isitali Consortium (Pty) Limited. Blackstar reached an agreement to
dispose its entire interest in Isitali Consortium to our BEE partner, which
was concluded in early 2008 Blackstar remains invested in the steel
sector through KMG, a competitor to Eurosteel.

Services company and telecom company
derivative transactions
Public secondary transactions

Transaction overview
Date of investment

March 2006/May 2006/August 2007

Leverage

3.4x

Total investment

£6.0 million

Gross return/IRR

31%/19%

Total value realised

£28,000

Total profit realised

£28,000

Carrying value of unrealised stake

£7.9 million

Blackstar concluded two secondary BEE transactions in a large listed
services company, and a secondary BEE transaction in a large listed
Telecommunications Company, using derivative structures.
The derivatives have been effected by the volatile market however the
underlying companies remain solid and we expect them to outperform
in the medium to longer term.
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Annexure A

Inherent net asset value (unaudited)

Resource interests
Mvelaphanda Resources
Forestry interests
York Timber Organisation
Industrial interests
Kulungile Metals Group
DCD-Dorbyl
Euro Steel
Healthcare interests
Myriad Medical
Media interests
Adreach
Derivative interests and other
Telecom derivative
Services derivative
Other
Cash
Net working capital
Provisions (performance fee)
Inherent net asset value
Number of shares in issue (thousands)
Inherent net asset value per share (in pence)
Carrying net asset value per share (in pence)

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

20,790

—

31,468

—

22,937
16,555
915

—
—
733

4,659

5,123

2,776

—

1,589
5,557
491
10,295
(883)
(7,974)
109,175
75,665
144
133

846
7,077
—
66,197
277
—
80,253
78,465
102
101

Notes:
1. Underlying listed investments on recognised stock exchanges have been valued using quoted bid prices at year end.
2. Unlisted investments are shown at directors’ valuation, determined on the basis of a similar recent investment transaction or using the application of an earnings multiple
to the earnings of the portfolio company, in which case the appropriate earnings of the portfolio company have been based on the latest audited accounts, more recent
management accounts or forecast numbers, whichever indicate a maintainable result; and the appropriate market multiple has been based on either comparable companies
or industry sector multiples taken from the relevant stock exchange.
3. Inherent net asset value is the net asset value adjusted to reflect recently made unlisted investments at fair value, rather than at cost.
4. The provision for the performance fee as per the financial statements has been adjusted to reflect the increase in the performance fee that would be payable as a result
of the increase in the net asset value.
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2007

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Results and dividends
The consolidated income statement as set out on page 19 shows the profit for the year.
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2006 – nil).

Principal activities, review of business and future developments
The Company was incorporated in England and Wales and has its registered office at 7th Floor, Phoenix House, 18 King
William Street, London EC4N 7HE and has its principal place of business at 6 rue Adolphe Fischer, L-1520 Luxembourg.
The Company is an investment company and its principal activities during the year as well as that of its Cyprus subsidiary
were to participate in investment opportunities in South Africa, including those that emanate from the Black Economic
Empowerment (‘‘BEE’’) process currently underway in South Africa. The principal activity of the Company’s Gibraltar subsidiary
was that of acting as a treasury vehicle to the Company.
Through two capital raisings in 2006, the Company successfully raised an aggregate of £80 million (before expenses) to
pursue its investing strategy and engaged Blackstar Managers, an offshore management company, to assist with sourcing,
evaluating and assessing potential investment opportunities.
The Company has capitalised on this opportunity acquiring assets on attractive terms and conditions and has gained exposure
to sectors and industries that it believes will do well, including amongst others, resources, forestry and industrial. The company
has a balance of listed and unlisted assets in its portfolio and has raised debt finance in certain of its investments.
The Directors believe that the transformation of the South African economy in connection with the South African Government’s
BEE programme continues to create various investment opportunities for capital providers. Such opportunities however
extend beyond South Africa to the Sub-Saharan region, which is experiencing significant interest from the international
investment community. The Directors have undertaken a strategic review of the Company and its investments and in
consequence proposed a resolution at the general meeting of the Company on 18 February 2008, which was passed, to
amend the investing strategy to allow the Company to make investments in any of the countries in Sub-Saharan Africa in
addition to South Africa, where the Board believes opportunities exist for a significant investment return.
As the assets of the Company grow in size and the number of investments increase the Company’s investment advisor
requires more resources and a larger team. In addition, the widened investing strategy and the increased private equity nature
of the portfolio require a larger coverage team with additional operational skills. To ensure that the investment advisor can meet
these requirements, the Board of Directors has resolved to increase the investment advisory fees, in line with the standard
practice in the investment sector, from 2% of £80,000,000 (aggregate funds raised by the Company and available for
investment) to the greater of:
•
•

2% of £80,000,000 (aggregate funds raised by the Company and available for investment); or
2% of the total net assets of the Group as per the latest audited annual financial statements.

The Board of Directors considers, having consulted with Shore Capital and Corporate Limited, that the change in investment
advisory fees is fair and reasonable insofar as its shareholders are concerned.
During the year, the Company purchased 2.8 million ordinary shares of nominal value £1.00 each in the share capital of the
Company, representing 3.6% of the issued share capital of the Company, further to the authority granted to the Company at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2007. The average price paid for these ordinary shares was £1.06
per share.
During the year the Group invested £57.1 million in various investments set out in the investment portfolio review. Net
investment income increased by £22.2 million compared to the prior year mainly as a result of the increase in the fair value
of investments, notably from the Group’s investments in York Timber Organisation Limited (“York”) and Mvelaphanda
Resources Limited. This was boosted by fee, dividend and interest income as well as realised gains from the
disposal/redemption of shares in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited and York’s BEE special purpose vehicles.
In addition the Group recognised profit from discontinued operations of £2.6 million representing the post acquisition profits
of York for the period 14 March 2007 to 12 July 2007 and the post tax gain on the deemed disposal arising on 12 July 2007.
General administration expenses increased by £0.9 million compared to the prior year, representing expenses for the Group’s
first full year of operations with capital of £80 million under management compared to the prior year, during which the capital
was raised in two tranches. The Group has also provided for the performance fee payable in the terms of the investment
advisory agreement of £5.8 million, which arises from the net increase in the fair value of investments.
14
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The other requirements of the business review and a portfolio review have been included in the Advisor’s statement.

Corporate Governance
All material matters were reported to the Board of Directors which meets on a quarterly basis.

Going Concern
After making enquiries the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries have adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the accounts.

Policy and practice on the payment of creditors
It is the Group’s policy to pay its creditors in accordance with the individual supplier’s policy which is normally after having
taken 30 days credit from each supplier. Trade creditor days for the Group at 31 December 2007 were 4 days (2006 –
1 day).

Post balance sheet events
These are detailed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Charitable and political contributions
During the year, no charitable or political contributions were made.

Substantial shareholders
On 1 January 2008, the following parties had disclosed holdings of 3% or more of the issued ordinary shares of the Company.

Morstan Nominees Limited
Bear Stearns Securities Corp
HSBC Global Custody Nominee UK Limited
Bank of New York Nominees Limited
Nortrust Nominees Limited
Chase Nominees Limited
K.B.C.I. Nominees Limited
Nutraco Nominees Limited
Pershing Keen Nominees Limited
Mellon Nominees UK Limited

Number of
ordinary shares

% of issued
share capital

14,835,943
10,996,708
8,185,876
5,924,299
4,498,012
3,534,353
3,495,334
3,397,108
2,823,101
2,600,392

19.61%
14.53%
10.82%
7.83%
5.94%
4.67%
4.62%
4.49%
3.73%
3.44%

Risk management
Details of the principal risks facing the Company and its subsidiaries are contained in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Directors
The Directors of the Company at the end of the year and their beneficial interests at the year end in the ordinary share capital
of the Company were as follows:

Julian Treger*
Andrew Bonamour#
Wolfgang Baertz
Marcel Ernzer
John Mills

Number of
ordinary Shares
2007

Number of
ordinary Shares
2006

1,014,075
110,415
—
—
—

1,000,000
34,225
—
—
—

Notes:
* These shares are held by Julian Treger and his family in their personal capacities and also by E2Investors Limited, a company that is ultimately owned by discretionary
trusts of which Julian Treger is a potential beneficiary.
# These shares are held by funds associated with Andrew Bonamour.

Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007

15

Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 31 December 2007

No Director has options to purchase shares in the Company.
No Director has any direct interest in the shares of any of the subsidiary companies. Professional liability insurance for the
benefit of the directors was in force during the financial year and at the date of this report.
Biographical details of all current Directors are to be found on page 17.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (‘‘the Group’’), for safeguarding the assets of the Group, for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation of a
Directors’ Report which complies with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985. The Directors have chosen to prepare financial statements for the Group and the Company in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (‘‘IFRSs’’) and the rules
of the London Stock Exchange for companies trading securities on the Alternative Investment Market. The directors have
chosen to prepare financial statements for the Company in accordance with IFRSs
International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Group’s
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘‘Framework for the preparation and
presentation of financial statements’’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with
all applicable IFRSs. A fair presentation also requires the Directors to:
•
•
•

consistently select and apply appropriate accounting policies;
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information; and
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and
financial performance.

Financial statements are published on the Group’s website in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The
maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website is the responsibility of the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility also
extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein.

Auditors
BDO Stoy Hayward LLP has expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution to reappoint them will be
proposed at the annual general meeting.
The Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any information needed
by the Company’s auditors for the purposes of their audit and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.
The Directors are not aware of any relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
By order of the Board.

John Mills
18 March 2008
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Directorate

John Broadhurst Mills (Non-executive Chairman)
John Mills, a qualified solicitor, is currently a director of Maitland Luxembourg SA and certain Luxembourg and ISE listed
investment funds. Over the previous five years, he was and continues to be a director and a principal in the Maitland Group
and a number of other companies. He has had extensive experience in advising clients in the structuring and exiting of
private equity investments, through both onshore and offshore vehicles.

Julian André Treger (Non-executive Deputy Chairman)
Julian Treger, who grew up in South Africa, has been involved in the corporate finance and securities investment business
since graduating from Harvard College (Magna Cum Laude) in 1984. After starting at Hambros Bank in corporate finance
(M&A division), he attended Harvard Business School, thereafter he joined the J Rothschild Group to manage a portfolio
of venture capital investments in both the UK and abroad and in providing corporate finance services to clients. In
1993, together with Brian Myerson, he founded Active Value Advisors. Julian is a principal advisor to Audley Capital in
London, an onshore advisory business to a hedge fund and a private equity fund, whilst he continues to serve a number
of other directorships.

Andrew David Bonamour (Non-executive Director)
Andrew Bonamour was the founder of Blackstar Investors PLC and is the managing partner of Blackstar Managers which
advises the funds on behalf of Blackstar Investors PLC. Andrew previously worked at Brait S.A. Limited where he held
positions in Investment Banking, principal investment divisions and Corporate Finance. At Brait, Andrew originated and
played a lead role in a variety of transactions ranging from Leveraged buyouts, mergers and acquisitions, capital
replacements and restructurings. Andrew has an in depth knowledge of and experience in corporate finance, private equity
and investment banking. Andrew holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree.

Wolfgang Andreas Baertz (Non-executive Director)
Wolfgang Baertz has significant experience within the banking sector over the previous 40 years. From 1968, he has been
with Dresdner Bank initially in Frankfurt and for most of his career in Luxembourg and where he held the positions of Head
of Loans and Syndications Department (1970-1979), General Manager (1979-1982), Managing Director and Member of the
Executive Committee (1982-1997) and President (1997-2003).

Marcel Ernzer (Non-executive Director)
Marcel Ernzer, a Reviseur d’entreprises, is an independent consultant within the financial sector. He was an auditor and
later a consultant with Price Waterhouse Luxembourg from 1982-1986. From 1987-1996, he was responsible for settingup and managing Unico Financial Services, a PSF in Luxembourg, owned by Credit Agricole, DZ Bank, Rabobank, RZB
Austria, Cera Bank (later KBC) and Okobank. He is currently a director of Insinger de Beaufort Holdings S.A., Aviva Funds,
Camera di Commercio Italo-Lussemburghese, Pro Fonds (Lux) Sicav and certain family owned commercial companies
including Tetrabat, Taxirent and FAS.Over the previous years he was a director of several financial services companies
including Corporate Management Services owned by Commercial Union, EEK Invest owned by Evangelische
Kreditgenossenschaft, Piac owned by RZB Austria, UKB owned by Kokusai Securities and Witherthur Financial Services
owned by Winterthur. He was also a director of several investment funds and was until 1998 serving on the board of ALFI,
the association of the Luxembourg Fund Industry.
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Report of the independent auditors

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Blackstar Investors PLC
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘’financial statements’’) of Blackstar Investors
PLC for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and
Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Consolidated and
Parent Company Statements of Change in Shareholders’ Equity and the related notes. The financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and whether the information given in the Directors’ report is
consistent with those financial statements. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper
accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Directors’ report and the Advisor’s statement. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.
Our report has been prepared pursuant to the requirements of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. No
person is entitled to rely on this report unless such a person is a person entitled to rely upon this report by virtue of and
for the purpose of the Companies Act 1985 or has been expressly authorised to do so by our prior written consent. Save
as above, we do not accept responsibility for this report to any other person or for any other purpose and we hereby
expressly disclaim any and all such liability.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
•
•

•
•

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended;
the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent
Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2007;
the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

BDO Stoy Hayward LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, Gatwick
18 March 2008
18

Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

21,763
3,813
695
26,271
(5,767)
(2,438)
(8,205)
18,066
1,806
19,872
(37)
19,835

3,701
114
285
4,100
—
(1,565)
(1,565)
2,535
1,663
4,198
—
4,198

2,629
22,464

—
4,198

22,264
200
22,464

4,198
—
4,198

10

25.49

9.14

10

28.62

9.14

Notes
Continuing Operations
Net increase in fair value of investments
Fees, dividends and interest from investments
Realised gain on disposal/redemption of investments
Net investment income
Administrative expenses – Performance fee
Administrative expenses – Other
Administrative expenses
Profit from operations
Interest received
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued Operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations
Profit for the year

3

4
7
8

9

Attributable to:
Equity holders
Minority interest

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable to
equity holders from continuing operations in pence
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable to
equity holders from continuing and discontinued operations
in pence

The notes on pages 23 to 38 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Share
capital
£’000
Balance at 31 December
2005
Currency exchange losses
on investments
Amount recognised directly
in equity
Profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Consolidation and issue of
new shares
Capital raising expenses
Balance at 31 December
2006
Currency exchange gains
on investments
Amount recognised directly
in equity
Profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Minority interest arising
on acquisition
Minority interest eliminated on
disposal of subsidiary held
with a view to dispose
Buy back of ordinary shares
Balance at 31 December
2007

Foreign
Capital currency
Share redemption translation
premium
reserve
reserve
£’000
£’000
£’000

Special
reserve
£’000

Treasury
shares
£’000

Retained
earnings
£’000

Minority
interest
£’000

Total
equity
£’000

121

—

1,262

—

11,754

—

(12,874)

—

263

—

—

—

(839)

—

—

—

—

(839)

121
—

—
—

1,262
—

(839)
—

11,754
—

—
—

(12,874)
4,198

—
—

(576)
4,198

121

—

1,262

(839)

11,754

—

(8,676)

—

3,622

78,344
—

2,143
(2,143)

(487)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(2,467)

—
—

80,000
(4,610)

78,465

—

775

(839)

11,754

—

(11,143)

—

79,012

—

—

—

2,053

—

—

—

—

2,053

78,465
—

—
—

775
—

1,214
—

11,754
—

—
—

(11,143)
22,264

—
200

81,065
22,464

78,465

—

775

1,214

11,754

—

11,121

200 103,529

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,272

3,272

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(2,980)

—
—

(3,472)
—

(3,472)
(2,980)

78,465

—

775

1,214

11,754

(2,980)

11,121

No dividends were declared in any of the periods presented above.
The notes on pages 23 to 38 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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— 100,349

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2007

Notes

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

Non-current assets
Investments held to maturity
Investments at fair value through profit and loss

11
12

41,998
54,706
96,704

2,816
9,722
12,538

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

16
17

469
10,295
10,764
107,468

435
66,197
66,632
79,170

18

(5,767)
(37)
(5,804)

—
—
—

19

(1,315)
(7,119)
100,349

(158)
(158)
79,012

Equity
Share capital
Capital redemption reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Special reserve
Treasury shares
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to equity holders

20
20
20
20
20
20

78,465
775
1,214
11,754
(2,980)
11,121
100,349

78,465
775
(839)
11,754
—
(11,143)
79,012

Net asset value per share in pence

21

133

101

Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Tax payable
Current liabilities
Trade and other accounts payable
Total liabilities
Total net assets

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 18 March 2008.
Andrew Bonamour
Director
The notes on pages 23 to 38 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Notes
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash absorbed by operations
Interest received
Dividends received
Cash generated by operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Purchase of subsidiary held with the view to dispose
Proceeds from disposal of investments
Proceeds from disposal of rights arising in respect of subsidiary
held with a view to dispose
Proceeds from the redemption of preference share investments
Cash absorbed by investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares
Capital raising expenses
Buy back of ordinary shares
Cash (absorbed)/generated by financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

22

The notes on pages 23 to 38 form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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2007
£’000

2006
£’000

(413)
1,817
138
1,542

(1,627)
1,663
—
36

(52,889)
(4,231)
592

(9,799)
—
522

867
1,197
(54,464)

—
—
(9,277)

—
—
(2,980)
(2,980)
(55,902)
66,197
10,295

80,000
(4,610)
—
75,390
66,149
48
66,197

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements have been
consistently applied across all periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.
These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) published by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) as endorsed for use by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to
companies preparing their accounts under IFRS.

Significant judgements and areas of estimation
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the
amounts reported in the balance sheet and income statement of the Group. Although the estimates are based on the
Directors’ best knowledge and judgements of current facts as at the balance sheet date, the actual outcome may differ
from those estimates. The most critical estimates, assumptions and judgements relate to the determination of carrying value
of investments at fair value through profit and loss and investments held to maturity as well as the classification of
investments at fair value through profit and loss and investments held to maturity.
In determining the carrying value of investments at fair value through profit and loss, the Group follows the International
Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, applying the overriding concept that fair value is the amount for
which an asset can be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The nature, facts
and circumstance of the investment drives the valuation methodology.
In determining the carrying value of investments held to maturity, the Group considers whether there have been any events
or changes in circumstances which indicate that an impairment may have occurred and reduces the carrying value by the
estimated extent of the impairment.
Investments at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets held-for-trading and those designated at fair value
through profit and loss at inception. Investments held-to-maturity are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
The accounting policies that the Group applied in the presentation of the financial statements are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of another
entity or business so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. These consolidated financial
statements present the results of the Group as if they formed a single entity. Intercompany transactions and balances
between Group companies are therefore eliminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments at fair value through profit
and loss are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise.
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest
rate applicable, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Group.
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment has been established and it is determined that such income
will accrue to the Group.
Fee income includes corporate finance and advisory fees, which are recognised on an accrual basis when the fees are
earned and can be reliably estimated. Fee income is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Translation of foreign currencies
The Group’s functional currency is Rands. Items included in the financial statements are reported in Sterling, being the
presentational currency in which the issued capital shares are denominated.
Transactions denominated in currencies other than Sterling are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of
the transaction.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1. Accounting policies (continued)
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured in terms of
historical cost are translated using the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are carried at fair value are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on
the date when the fair value was determined.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on translation of assets and liabilities denominated in Rands are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve, whereas foreign exchange gains and losses arising on translation of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than Rands are recognised in the income statement for the period.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments disclosed in the financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade and
accounts receivable and trade and accounts payable. Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, when the
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments
are measured as follows:
Investments at fair value through profit and loss – Investments at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets
held-for-trading and those designated at fair value through profit and loss at inception. These assets are carried at fair value.
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these investments are recognised in the
income statement in the period in which they arise.
Investments held-to-maturity – Investments held-to-maturity are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets are subsequently
carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on held-to-maturity investments has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured and the carrying amount of the asset
shall be reduced. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in the income statement in the period in which it arises.
Investments in associates – An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. Investments in associates that are
held as part of the Group’s investment portfolio are carried at fair value even though the Group may have significant
influence over those companies. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these
investments are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise. This treatment is permitted by IAS
28 Investment in Associates which allows investments held by venture capital organisations to be excluded from the scope
of IAS 28 Investment in Associates provided that those investments upon initial recognition are designated as fair value
through profit or loss and accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period of change.
De-recognition occurs when the contractual rights to the financial asset expire, or when a financial liability is extinguished.

Treasury shares
Consideration paid/(received) for the purchase/(sale) of treasury shares is recognised directly in equity. The cost of treasury
shares held is presented as a separate reserve. Any excess of the consideration received on the sale of treasury shares
over the weighted average cost of the shares sold is credited to the share premium account.

Financial Guarantee Contracts
Where financial guarantee contracts are not considered to be insurance contracts then such contracts are initially
recognised at fair value when the Group becomes party to the contract. Such contracts are subsequently re-measured at
the higher of the best estimate of the obligation arising under the contract, and the amount initially recognised less any
cumulative amortisation, which is recognised as revenue.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash in current accounts and cash deposits that mature within three months, all of
which are available for use by the Group.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Accounts receivable
Receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.
Such items have a short duration and are not discounted.

Accounts payable
Accounts payable are stated at their nominal value. Such items have a short duration and are not discounted.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events, for which it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will occur and where a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the effect of discounting is material, provisions are discounted. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The Group discloses a contingent liability when it has a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

Taxation
The taxation expense comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year using tax
rates that have been either enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred taxation is provided on the balance sheet liability method based on temporary differences between the taxation
base of an asset or liability and its balance sheet carrying amount. A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deferred taxation asset can be realised in
the foreseeable future.

New standards and interpretations
The Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. This replaces the disclosure requirements of IAS 32
Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation. IFRS 7 introduces new requirements aimed at improving disclosure of
qualitative and quantitative information about the exposure and risks arising from financial instruments.
The Group has also adopted a complementary amendment to IAS 1: Presentation of financials statements – capital
disclosures which requires disclosure about the level and the management of capital.
The International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee have
issued the following standards and interpretations that were not applied. These are to be applied to financial statements
with periods commencing on or after the following dates:
Standards and Interpretations

Effective Date

IAS 1 (Revised 2007)*: Presentation of financial statements
Amendments to IAS 23*: Borrowing Costs (Revised)
Amendments IAS 1 and IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation (Puttable instruments and
obligations arising on a liquidation).
IFRS 3 (Revised 2008)*: Business Combinations and complementary amendments to IAS 27*:
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to IFRS 2*: Share-based Payment (Vesting conditions and cancellations)
IFRS 8: Operating Segments
IFRIC 11: IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC 12*: Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 13*: Customer Loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 14*: IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction

01/01/2009
01/01/2009
01/01/2009
01/07/2009
01/01/2009
01/01/2009
01/03/2007
01/01/2008
01/07/2008
01/01/2008

* These standards and interpretations are not endorsed by the EU at present.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1. Accounting policies (continued)
The amendment to IAS1 will require a change to how the Group Income Statement is presented by the inclusion of a
Statement of Comprehensive Income which includes items taken directly to equity (with the exception of transactions with
the shareholders of the Group). This new presentation will either be in terms of one single Statement of Comprehensive
Income, or as two separate statements comprising a Group Income Statement, which is currently presented, and a further
Statement of Comprehensive Income which incorporates only those items to be taken directly to equity.
The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the other standards and interpretations listed above will have a material
impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application on the basis that they do not impact upon the
Group’s current activities.

2. Segmental information
On 14 March 2007, the Group acquired a 56.3% interest in the voting rights of York Timber Organisation Limited (“York”),
which was subsequently reduced to 19.9% of the voting rights on 12 July 2007. York is a forestry company that owns
forests, sawmills and trading operations in South Africa, being one of the segments from which the Group’s results are
derived. During this period the profit of York amounted to £458,000, of which £200,000 was attributable to outside
shareholders. The balance and vast majority of the Group’s results are derived from its principal activity, investing in South
Africa, this being its reportable segment, and geographic segment.

3. Fees, dividends and interest from investments

Dividends from investments held to maturity
Dividends from investments at fair value through profit and loss
Interest from investments held to maturity
Fee income

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

1,803
88
1,020
902
3,813

114
—
—
—
114

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

(284)

(112)

38
29
3
47
34

20
—
—
—
19

4. Profit from operations
This has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Foreign exchange differences
Auditors’ remuneration
– audit services: audit of the Company’s annual accounts
– audit services: audit of the 30 September 2007 special purpose accounts
– audit services: audit of the Company’s subsidiaries
– other services relating to corporate finance transactions
– other services pursuant to legislation

5. Employees
The average number of employees of the Group during the year, excluding Directors, was nil (2006 – nil).
During the year, as set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, on 14 March 2007, the Group acquired a
56.3% interest in the voting rights of York Timber Organisation Limited (“York”), a subsidiary held with a view to dispose.
Since 12 July 2007, the Group no longer had a controlling interest in York, which is a company that has a significant number
of employees. On the basis that York and its employees were not intended to become part of the on-going Group, the
Directors are of the opinion that the inclusion of the employees of York in the average number of employees and
employment costs of the Group would not be meaningful.

26

Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007

6. Directors remuneration
The fees of the Directors for services to the Group were £183,000 (2006: £165,000).
The Company does not operate a pension scheme for its Directors.
All Directors’ fees payable to John Mills are payable to the Maitland Group.
No Director held any share options and no options were granted or exercised in the year (2006 – none).

7. Interest received

Interest income on short term deposits

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

1,806

1,663

8. Taxation
The reasons for the difference between the actual tax charge for the year and the standard rate of corporation tax in
Luxembourg applied to profits of 29.63% (2006: 29.63%) are as follows:

Profit before tax from continuing operations
Tax at standard rate of corporation tax in Luxembourg
Income and expenses not subject to tax
Capitalised expenses deductible for tax purposes
Tax losses unutilised
Effect of lower tax rates in Cyprus
Current tax charge for the year

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

19,872
5,888
(6,270)
—
491
(72)
37

4,198
1,244
(1,153)
(96)
5
—
—

The Group has unutilised cumulative losses of £1,514,000 (2006 – nil) and additional capitalised expenses amounting to
£4,512,000 (2006 – £4,512,000) that are deductible for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised due
to the degree of uncertainty over both the amount and utilisation of the underlying tax losses and deductions.

9. Profit from discontinued operations
Acquisition of York Timber Organisation Limited (“York”)
On 14 March 2007, the Group acquired a 56.3% interest in the voting rights of York. York was acquired with the intention
to dispose of part of the holding and it has been accounted for as such in these financial statements, with its results from
acquisition to deemed disposal (see below) being treated as a discontinued operation.
The assets and liabilities acquired were as follows:
£’000
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total net assets acquired
Group share of net assets acquired (including goodwill of £17,000)
Consideration paid in cash

18,378
10,892
7,486
4,231
4,231

Deemed disposal of York
On 12 July 2007, York acquired 100% of the shares in and claims against Global Forest Products (Pty) Limited (“GFP”) and
South African Plywood (Pty) Limited (“Plywood”), which was funded by York through raising additional equity including a
rights issue by York, with the balance through debt facilities.
Whilst the Group exercised its rights to 10 million additional shares in York, it did not exercise all of its available rights and
following the acquisition by York of GFP and Plywood on 12 July 2007, the Group’s share of voting rights reduced from
56.3% to 19.9%.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2007

9. Profit from discontinued operations (continued)
Results shown as part of discontinued operations
The profit for the year from discontinued operations of £2,629,000 in the consolidated income statement reflects the post
acquisition profits of York for the period 14 March 2007 to 12 July 2007 of £458,000 and the post tax gain on the deemed
disposal arising on 12 July 2007 of £2,171,000 which includes net proceeds from the sale of rights that were not taken up
of £867,000.

Consequential accounting since 12 July 2007
Since 12 July 2007, the Group has accounted for its retained interest in York at fair value through profit and loss in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

10. Basic and diluted earnings per share
Continuing operations
Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number of shares in issue (thousands)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in pence)
Continuing and discontinued operations
Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number of shares in issue (thousands)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in pence)

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

19,834
77,801
25.49

4,198
45,907
9.14

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

22,264
77,801
28.62

4,198
45,907
9.14

Earnings per ordinary share have been calculated by using the weighted average number of shares in issue being
77,801,162 (2006 – 45,907,268).

11. Investments held to maturity
2007
£’000

2006
£’000

Book cost at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Redemption during the year at cost
Book cost at the end of the year

2,796
35,415
(11)
38,200

—
2,796
—
2,796

Carrying value at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Redemption during the year at cost
Dividends from investments accrued during the year
Interest from investments accrued during the year
Currency exchange gains/(losses) on investments during the year
Carrying value at the end of the year

2,816
35,415
(11)
1,753
1,009
1,016
41,998

—
2,796
—
114
—
(94)
2,816
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11. Investments held to maturity (continued)
The Group does not have a controlling interest in any of the investments held to maturity. These investments comprise
the following:

Details
Cumulative redeemable preference shares in a special purpose vehicle established
to acquire an interest in Euro Steel Holdings (Pty) Limited. Dividends are payable at
the South African Prime rate plus 5.5% nominal annual compounded monthly and
the shares are redeemable in 2013 or earlier at the consent of the Company and
other shareholders.
Cumulative redeemable preference shares in a special purpose vehicle established
to acquire an interest in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited. Dividends are payable at
South African Prime rate plus 1.5% nominal annual compounded monthly and the
shares are redeemable in 2009 or earlier at the consent of the Company and
other shareholders.
Cumulative redeemable preference shares in a special purpose vehicle established
to acquire an interest in Mvelaphanda Resources Limited. Dividends are payable at
91% of South African Prime rate nominal annual compounded monthly and the
shares are redeemable in 2010 or earlier at the consent of the Company and
other shareholders.
Loan to a special purpose vehicle established to acquire an interest in DCD-Dorbyl
(Pty) Limited. The loan bears interest at South African Prime rate less 25 basis
points per annum, nominal annual compounded semi-annually and is repayable
in a bullet payment in 2014 or earlier.
Cumulative redeemable class A preference shares Kulungile Metals Group (Pty)
Limited. Dividends are payable at 90% of South African Prime rate nominal annual
compounded semi-annually and the shares are redeemable in 2013 or earlier at the
consent of the Company and other shareholders.*
Cumulative redeemable class B preference shares Kulungile Metals Group (Pty)
Limited. Dividends are payable at 90% of South African Prime rate nominal annual
compounded semi-annually and the shares are redeemable in 2010 or earlier at the
consent of the Company and other shareholders.*
Loan to Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited. The loan bears interest at 90% of
South African Prime rate nominal annual compounded semi-annually and is
repayable in a bullet payment in 2013 or earlier.*
Carrying value at the end of the year

Carrying
value
2007
£’000

Carrying
value
2006
£’000

588

524

2,675

2,292

12,843

—

5,436

—

3,057

—

8,228

—

9,171
41,998

—
2,816

* The Group has provided security to ABSA Bank Limited over its class A preference shares and class B preference shares in and loan to Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited.
Further details have been provided in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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12. Investments at fair value through profit and loss
2007
£’000

2006
£’000

Book cost at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Disposals during the year at cost
Book cost at the end of the year

6,766
21,705
(1,084)
27,387

—
7,003
(237)
6,766

Fair value at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Disposals during the year at cost
Net increase in the fair value of investments during the year
Currency exchange gains/(losses) on investments during the year
Gain on the deemed disposal from discontinued operations
Share of post acquisition profits from discontinued operations
Fair value at the end of the year

9,722
21,705
(1,084)
21,763
1,038
1,304
258
54,706

—
7,003
(237)
3,701
(745)
—
—
9,722

The Group does not have a controlling interest in any of the investments at fair value through profit and loss. These
investments are monitored on a fair value basis and comprise the following:

Details
Derivative investment in a telecom company, which gives the Company exposure to
a minority interest in the underlying telecom company.
Derivative investment in a services company, which gives the Company exposure to
a minority interest in the underlying services company.
Ordinary shares in a special purpose vehicle established to acquire an interest in Euro
Steel Holdings (Pty) Limited. The special purpose vehicle unwinds in 2013 or earlier at
the consent of the Company and other shareholders.
Ordinary shares in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited.
Preference shares in a special purpose vehicle established to facilitate an empowered
Group to acquire an interest in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited, in which the Company
participates. The shares are redeemable in 2009 or earlier at the consent the Company
and other shareholders.
Ordinary shares in York Timber Organisation Limited.
Preference shares in a special purpose vehicle established to facilitate a York staff trust
to acquire an interest in York Timber Organisation Limited in which the Company
participates. The shares are redeemable in 2011 or earlier at the consent the Company
and other shareholders.
Preference shares in a special purpose vehicle established to facilitate a community
trust to acquire an interest in York Timber Organisation Limited, in which the Company
participates. The shares are redeemable in 2011 or earlier at the consent the Company
and other shareholders.
Option to subscribe, for “N” preference shares in a special purpose vehicle
established to acquire an interest in Mvelaphanda Resources Limited. The “N”
preference shares will have an economic interest in the special purpose vehicle
and are redeemable in 2014 or earlier at the consent of the Company and
other shareholders.
Ordinary shares in a special purpose vehicle established to acquire an interest in
DCD-Dorbyl (Pty) Limited. The special purpose vehicle unwinds in 2014 or earlier at
the consent of the Company and other shareholders.
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Fair value
2007
£’000

Fair value
2006
£’000

1,589

846

5,557

6,369

327
1,901

188
2,196

83
29,592

123
—

721

—

1,155

—

6,940

—

86

—

12. Investments at fair value through profit and loss (continued)

Details
Ordinary shares in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited.*
Ordinary shares in Spescom Limited.
Ordinary shares in Adreach Group (Pty) Limited.
Ordinary shares in Mvelaphanda Resources Limited.
Carrying value at the end of the year

Fair value
2007
£’000

Fair value
2006
£’000

2,481
491
2,776
1,007
54,706

—
—
—
—
9,722

* The Group has provided security to ABSA Bank Limited over its ordinary shares in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited. Further details have been provided in note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

13. Subsidiary companies
The principal subsidiaries of the Company, all of which have been included in these consolidated financial statements, are
as follows:

Name
Blackstar (Cyprus) Investors Limited
Blackstar (Gibraltar) Limited
Illuminator Holdings Limited
Illuminator Investments Limited*

Country of
incorporation

Proportion of
Ownership

Principal activity

Cyprus
Gibraltar
England
England

100%
100%
100%
100%

Investment company
Investment company
Holding company (Dormant)
Investment company (Dormant)

* The shares in Illuminator Investments Limited are held directly by Illuminator Holdings Limited.

The Company has its principal place of operation in Luxembourg. For all undertakings listed above, the country of operation
is the same as its country of incorporation.

14. Capital under management
Through two capital raisings the Company raised £80 million (£75.4 million after capital raising expenses) in the year ended
31 December 2006, which it manages in terms of its investment strategy.
The Company’s objective is to generate substantial returns by pursuing investment opportunities arising out of the
empowerment process in South Africa.This includes achieving long-term capital appreciation through majority or minority
investments in a diversified portfolio of commercial and industrial companies in South Africa. The Company’s approach to
transactions is based on opportunism and market timing coupled with fundamental analysis. The Company follows a
proactive approach to seeking out opportunities that it believes will generate substantial returns for its investors.
The Company is meeting such objectives by investing the capital that it manages in companies in South Africa. The current
investing strategy of the Company is to participate in investment opportunities in South Africa, including those that emanate
from the BEE process, as an indirect and direct investor in a limited number of companies. The Directors have undertaken
a strategic review of the Company and its investments and in consequence proposed a resolution, which was passed to
amend the investing strategy to allow the Company to make investments in any of the countries in Sub-Saharan Africa in
addition to the Republic of South Africa. The Company has no externally imposed capital requirements and there have been
no changes in the capital that it manages.
During the year, the Company purchased 2.8 million ordinary shares of nominal value £1.00 each in the share capital of the
Company, representing 3.6% of the issued share capital of the Company, further to the authority granted to the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2007. The average price paid for these ordinary shares was
£1.06 per share.
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15. Financial instruments – Risk management
Blackstar Investors PLC is an investment company. Investments are usually in the form of equity or debt, which would be
on a floating rate basis. The Group is exposed to one or more of the following financial risks:
•
•
•
•
•

Interest rate risk
Currency risk
Market price risk
Credit risk
Liquidity risk

The Board agrees and reviews the objectives, policies and processes for managing these risks. There have been no
changes to the objectives policies and processes used to manage these risks, which are described in more detail below.
The Group may use derivatives and other instruments to mitigate such risks but have not used such instruments to date.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Board of Directors meet on a quarterly basis to review the investment portfolio and
consequently monitors interest rate risk on an ongoing basis.
All interest bearing funding provided by the Group is linked to the South African Prime Rate. In addition certain of the
Group’s investments have third party debt funding, which is linked to the South African Prime Rate. A 1% decrease in the
South African Prime Rate, all other variables held constant, would have resulted in an increase of £35,000 in the reported
net asset value of the Group. A 1% increase in the South African Prime, on the same basis, would have resulted in a
decrease of £36,000 in the reported net asset value of the Group.
Any excess cash and cash equivalents are invested with banks at short term market interest rates.

Currency risk
Currency risk arises because the Group makes investments in South Africa in Rands, which is not the same as the Group’s
reporting currency (Sterling). The value of these assets is exposed to currency risk giving rise to gains or losses on
translation into Sterling. Currency risk also arises because the Group incurs costs from service providers in various parts
of the world whose currency is not the same as the Group’s reporting currency (Sterling). The Board of Directors meet on
a quarterly basis to review the investment portfolio and consequently monitors currency risk on an ongoing basis. To
mitigate this risk, the Group may hedge its currency exposure from time to time.
A 10% strengthening of the Rand against Sterling at the balance sheet date, all other variables held constant, would have
resulted in an increase of £8,525,000 in the reported net asset value of the Group. A 10% weakening of the Rand against
Sterling at the balance sheet date, on the same basis, would have resulted in a decrease of £6,975,000 in the reported net
asset value of the Group.

Market price risk
The Group is exposed to market price risk in its listed and unlisted investments as well as country risk as all the investments
are in companies operating in South Africa. This is in line with the Group’s investment strategy. Listed and unlisted
investments are susceptible to market price risk arising from the performance of the underlying companies and uncertainties
about future prices in the case of listed investments. The Board of Directors meet on a quarterly basis to review the
investment portfolio, in particular the underlying performance of the companies in which it has invested and consequently
monitors the value of its investments on an ongoing basis.
Assuming that the investment portfolio is directly correlated to the FTSE/JSE Africa All Share Index, an increase of 10%
in the FTSE/JSE Africa All Share Index at the balance sheet date, all other variables held constant, would have resulted in
an increase of £5,978,000 in the reported net asset value of the Group. A decrease of 10% in the FTSE/JSE Africa All
Share Index at the balance sheet date, on the same basis, would have resulted in a decrease of £5,979,000 in the reported
net asset value of the Group.
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15. Financial instruments – Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk
Certain of the Group’s underlying investments are in private, illiquid special purpose vehicles. The Group, however has
sufficient working capital to meet its operational requirements and does not have any other liquidity risk. All surplus cash
is invested in liquid cash instruments. The type of cash instruments and its maturity date depends on the Group’s forecast
cash requirements.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to repay amounts when they fall due. This risk arises from investing
and financing activities. An integral part of the Group’s credit risk management process is the approval of all investment
and financing transactions by the Board of Directors. The Group manages it credit risk by setting acceptable exposure limits
to companies and industry segments. The Group provides financing to companies in which it has invested or to special
purpose vehicles established to acquire an equity interest in investee companies. This financing is provided on the strength
of the underlying companies that the Group has invested in.
The Board meets on a quarterly basis to review the investment portfolio, in particular the underlying performance of the
companies in which it has invested and consequently monitors credit risk on an ongoing basis. At balance sheet date, the
Group had no financial assets that were past due or impaired. An industry analysis of the investment portfolio, including
investments held to maturity and investments at fair value through profit and loss is provided in the table below. No single
industry is considered to be more risky than another.
Exposure
£’000

Exposure
Percentage

31,468
23,852
20,790
5,557
5,522
4,659
2,776
2,080

32%
25%
21%
6%
6%
5%
3%
2%

Forestry
Industrial (Steel)
Resources
Support Services
Engineering
Health Care
Media
Telecommunications

To mitigate its risk, the Group has entered into various security arrangements in respect of its investments in Euro Steel
Holdings (Pty) Limited, Myriad Medical Holdings Limited, York Timber Organisation Limited, Mvelaphanda Resources
Limited and DCD-Dorbyl (Pty) Limited. Where the Group has invested in the form of preference shares and loans, the
entities that have been funded by these preference shares and loans have provided security to the Group by either the
Group taking security over the shares that the funding special purpose vehicle (“SPV”) owns, or by the shareholders of the
funding SPV entering into guarantee and put and call option agreements over their shares in the funding SPV, or by a
combination of both of these arrangements. These arrangements provide the Group with security for the performance of
the SPV’s obligations to the Group. The security arrangements do not give the Group control of the shares or voting rights
while there is no event of default. There have been no events of default during the year.
Any excess cash and cash equivalents are held in current accounts or invested with banks in short term deposits. The credit
risk on cash and liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Valuation methodologies
The specific methodologies applied in valuing unrealised investments are described below:
The valuation approach follows the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, applying the
overriding concept that fair value is the amount for which an asset can be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties
in an arm’s length transaction. The nature, facts and circumstance of the investment drives the valuation methodology.
Investments at fair value through profit and loss include listed and unlisted investments.
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15. Financial instruments – Risk management (continued)
Listed Equity Investments: All investments listed on recognised stock exchanges have been valued using quoted bid prices
at year end.
Unlisted Equity Investments: All unlisted equity investments have been valued as follows:
(a)

Where applicable, on the basis of a similar recent investment transaction by an independent third-party in the equity
of the portfolio company. Where the investment being valued was itself made fairly recently (within a period of one
year), its cost provides a good indication of fair value; or

(b) On an earnings multiple basis involving the application of an earnings multiple to the earnings of the portfolio company,
in which case:
•
•
•

The appropriate earnings of the portfolio company have been based on the latest audited accounts, more recent
management accounts or forecast numbers, whichever indicate a maintainable result; and
The appropriate market multiple has been based on either comparable companies or industry sector multiples taken
from the relevant stock exchange; and
An appropriate marketability discount has been applied to the enterprise value. This is to adjust for factors such as a
lack of marketability.

Investments held to maturity, which include loans and preference shares have been carried at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method, less impairments.
Enterprise value is apportioned to the enterprise’s financial instruments in order of ranking. Given the subjective nature of
valuations, the Group is cautious and conservative in determining its valuations.

16. Trade and other receivables

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

458
11
469

435
—
435

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to its fair value.

17. Cash and cash equivalents

Call deposits and cash at bank

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

10,295

66,197

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in current accounts and cash deposits that mature within one week.
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18. Provisions
A provision has been raised for the performance fee payable by the Company under the terms of the investment advisory
agreement. The total performance fee is equal to 20% of the increase in the market value of investments of the Company,
subject to a 10% hurdle and making good any investment write-downs and general expenses.
A resolution was passed by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company held in February 2008 to
approve the new investment advisory agreement, whereby 50% of the performance fee is payable annually, subject to a
high watermark and the availability of cash resources and the remaining 50% of the performance fee will be payable within
14 days of the approval of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2012 or earlier, if the Company’s investments are realised prior to that date. Blackstar Managers Limited can elect to
postpone this fee payment for a further 12 month period, but cannot postpone the fee payment beyond 14 April 2015
(based on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014). Following the
passing of the resolution, £2,883,500 of the performance fee will be payable on 18 March 2008. The movement in provisions
was as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provisions during the year at cost
Balance at the end of the year

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

—
5,767
5,767

—
—
—

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

1,070
245
1,315

49
109
158

19. Trade and other accounts payable

Trade creditors
Accrued expenses

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other accounts payable approximates to its fair value.

20. Share capital and reserves

Authorised
90,000,000 ordinary shares of £1.00 each
Issued and fully paid
78,464,998 ordinary shares of £1.00 each

Movement of the ordinary shares of £1.00 each for the year
Total number of shares in issue at the beginning of the year
Initial bonus issue
100 for 1 share consolidation
4 for 1 bonus issue
Issue of new shares
Issue of new shares
Total number of shares in issue at the end of the year

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

90,000

90,000

78,465

78,465

Number of
shares

Number of
shares

78,464,998
—
—
—
—
—
78,464,998

12,060,632
96,468
(12,035,529)
486,284
35,000,000
42,857,143
78,464,998
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20. Share capital and reserves (continued)
Consolidation of ordinary share capital
As a consequence of the transfer of the principal place of business to Luxembourg, following the Extraordinary General
Meeting (“EGM”) held on 25 January 2006, the Company implemented (i) an initial bonus issue, issuing 96,468 1p ordinary
shares to existing shareholders; (ii) a 100 for 1 consolidation; and (iii) a 4 for 1 bonus issue resulting in 607,855 ordinary
shares of £1.00 each in issue.

Issue of new shares in relation to the capital raising
Following the EGM held on 25 January 2006, the Company increased the authorised share capital of the Company from
£2 million to £75 million by the creation of 7,300,000,000 1p ordinary shares; implemented a 100 for 1 consolidation (as
noted above); and raised £35 million, before expenses, by the issue of 35,000,000 new ordinary shares at £1.00 per share
on 22 February 2006.
Following the EGM held on 16 August 2006, the Company increased the authorised share capital of the Company from
£75 million to £90 million by the creation of 15,000,000 ordinary shares of £1.00 each and raised an additional £45 million,
before expenses by the issue of 42,857,143 new ordinary shares at £1.05 per share on 22 August 2006.

Shares held in treasury
On 12 September 2007, the Company purchased 500,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £1.00 each in the share capital
of the Company, further to the authority granted to the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
29 June 2007. The price paid for these ordinary shares was £1.05 per share.
On 21 September 2007, the Company purchased 500,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £1.00 each in the share capital
of the Company, further to the authority granted to the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
29 June 2007. The price paid for these ordinary shares was £1.13 per share.
On 16 October 2007, the Company purchased 1,800,000 ordinary shares of nominal value £1.00 each in the share capital
of the Company, further to the authority granted to the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
29 June 2007. The price paid for these ordinary shares was £1.05 per share.
These shares have been cancelled in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. However in accordance with Luxembourg
law, the ordinary shares bought back are held in treasury until they are cancelled through an amendment to the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company and were held as treasury shares at 31 December 2007. A
resolution to authorise the cancellation of these shares was passed by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting
of the Company held in February 2008.

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve arose due to transfers from retained earnings in accordance with relevant legislation and
is not distributable.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve arose as exchange differences on translation of assets and liabilities denominated
in the functional currency (Rands) are recognised in equity.

Special reserve
The special reserve arose due to merger accounting in the consolidation of Illuminator Holdings Limited.

36

Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007

21. Net asset value per share

Total net assets
Number of shares in issue (thousands)
Net asset value per share (in pence)

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

100,349
75,665
133

79,012
78,465
101

Net asset value per share has been calculated by using the actual number of shares in issue at the end of the financial year.
At 31 December 2007, the actual number of shares in issue has been reduced to take into account the 2,800,000 shares
that were bought back by the Company. These shares were held as treasury shares at 31 December 2007 and have since
been cancelled as set out in note 20 to consolidated financial statements.

22. Cash absorbed by operations

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Increase in market value of investments
Dividends and interest from investments
Interest received
Realised gain on disposal of investments
Performance fee payable
Changes in working capital
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other accounts payable
Cash absorbed by operations

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

19,872

4,198

(21,763)
(2,911)
(1,806)
(695)
5,767

(3,701)
(114)
(1,663)
(285)
—

(34)
1,157
(413)

(154)
92
(1,627)

23. Related party transactions
Julian Treger is deemed to be a related party, as in addition to being a Director, he is a potential beneficiary of discretionary
trusts that are interested in 1.34% of the issued share capital of the Company. Funds associated with Julian Treger are
entitled to share in any performance fee payable by the Company under the terms of the investment advisory agreement.
A trust associated with Julian Treger is a major shareholder in Audley Capital Advisors LLP, which agreed to provide financial
advisory services to the Company. In 2007, fees to Audley Capital amounted to £24,000 (2006 – £179,000). At the balance
sheet date £6,000 (2006 – £6,000) was owing to Audley Capital.
Andrew Bonamour is deemed to be a related party, as in addition to being a Director, he is a potential beneficiary of family
trusts that own Blackstar Managers Limited. Blackstar Managers Limited has agreed to provide investment advisory
services to the Company under the terms of the investment advisory agreement, and is also entitled to share in any
performance fee payable by the Company under the terms of the investment advisory agreement. In addition, funds
associated with Andrew Bonamour are interested in 0.15% of the issued share capital of the Company. In 2007, investment
advisory fees to Blackstar Managers Limited amounted to £1,525,000 (2006 – £979,000). At the balance sheet date
£363,000 (2006 – £388,000) has been paid in advance to Blackstar Managers Limited.
John Mills is deemed to be a related party, as in addition to being a Director, he is a Director of Maitland Luxembourg S.A.
Maitland provided a variety of services to the Company, on a commercial, arm’s length basis. In 2007, fees to Maitland for
advisory and administrative services amounted to £275,000 (2006 – £341,000). At the balance sheet date £62,000,
(2006 – £26,000) was owing to Maitland.
Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. There are no other related
party transactions.

24. Pension costs
The Company does not operate a pension scheme for its Directors.
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25. Contingent liabilities
The following contingencies and guarantees exist at 31 December 2007:
•

the Group has provided security to ABSA Bank Limited over its ordinary shares, class A preference shares, class B
preference shares in and loan to Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited to ABSA Bank Limited.

•

the Company has provided a guarantee in respect of funding facilities provide by ABSA Bank Limited to Kulungile
Metals Group (Pty) Limited for an amount not exceeding R125 million (£8.3 million).

These items have been provided as additional security to ABSA Bank Limited for the debt financing provided by ABSA Bank
Limited to Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited and Global Roofing Solutions (Pty) Limited. In addition ABSA Bank Limited
has security over the immovable and movable property of Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited and Global Roofing Solutions
(Pty) Limited. It is not probable that such these items will result in an outflow of resources required to settle an obligation.

26. Post balance sheet events
Disposal of shares in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited (“Myriad”)
The Group disposed of 2,350,000 shares in Myriad for R2.1 million (£156,000).

Disposal of investment in Euro Steel Holdings (Pty) Limited (“Eurosteel”)
The Group disposed of its entire investment in Eurosteel (including its preference shares in a special purpose vehicle
established to acquire an interest in Eurosteel) for an aggregate of R12.4 million (£0.9 million). Blackstar initially acquired
its interest in Eurosteel in July 2006 for an aggregate cost of R6.7 million (£0.6 million).

Disposal of investment in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited (“KMG”)
The Group has agreed to dispose of 3.05% of its ordinary shares in KMG, 3.05% of its preference shares in KMG and 3.05%
of its loan against KMG for an aggregate of R7 million (£0.5 million). Completion of the disposal is expected to take place
in January 2008.

Loan facility from Investec Bank Limited (“Investec”)
The Group has arranged a loan facility from Investec for up to R100 million (£6.7 million). The Group has until 31 December
2008, to drawdown on these facilities, which must be repaid by 31 January 2012. The transaction is subject to the fulfilment
of certain conditions precedent, which are expected to be fulfilled during April 2008. As part of the transaction, the Group
has provided security to Investec over its ordinary shares in York Timber Organisation Limited, its ordinary shares in Myriad
Medical Holdings Limited and any of its shares in and claims against Credit U Holdings Limited acquired using the capital
advanced by Investec in terms of the loan facility.

Credit U Holdings Limited (“Credit U”)
The Group has agreed to provide Credit U (formerly Kagisano Group Holdings Limited) with a R100 million (£6.7 million)
loan facility, to be drawn down by 31 December 2008 and repaid by no later than 31 December 2011. As part of the
transaction, the Group will have the right and option at any stage up to 31 December 2011 to subscribe for a maximum of
16,666,667 Credit U ordinary shares for cash at an issue price of R3.00 per share and thereafter Credit U will repay the
Group’s loan in an amount equal to the subscription price of the shares. The transaction is subject to the fulfilment of
certain conditions precedent, which are expected to be fulfilled during April 2008. Credit U is a financial services group that
targets the financial needs of clients in the lower income groups of South Africa with a broad range of financial services
products. These include credit products, cellular products, insurance products, employee benefits and other financial
solutions.

Amendment to investment advisory fees
As the assets of the Company grow in size and the number of investments increase the Company’s investment advisor
requires more resources and a larger team. In addition, the widened investing strategy and the increased private equity
nature of the portfolio require a larger coverage team with additional operational skills. To ensure that the investment advisor
can meet these requirements, the Board of Directors has resolved to increase the investment advisory fees, in line with the
standard practice in the investment sector, from 2% of £80,000,000 (aggregate funds raised by the Company and available
for investment) to the greater of:
•
•

2% of £80,000,000 (aggregate funds raised by the Company and available for investment); or
2% of the total net assets of the Group as per the latest audited annual financial statements.

The Board of Directors considers, having consulted with Shore Capital and Corporate Limited, that the change in investment
advisory fees is fair and reasonable insofar as its shareholders are concerned.
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Share
Capital
£’000
Balance at 31 December
2005
Currency exchange losses
on investments
Amount recognised directly
in equity
Profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Consolidation and issue of
new shares
Capital raising expenses
Balance at 31 December
2006
Currency exchange gains on
investments
Amount recognised directly
in equity
Profit for the year
Total recognised income and
expense for the year
Buy back of ordinary shares
Balance at 31 December
2007

Capital
Share redemption
premium
reserve
£’000
£’000

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
£’000

Treasury
shares
£’000

Retained
earnings
£’000

Total
equity
£’000

121

—

1,262

—

—

(1,120)

263

—

—

—

(209)

—

—

(209)

121
—

—
—

1,262
—

(209)
—

—
—

(1,120)
1,629

54
1,629

121

—

1,262

(209)

—

509

1,683

78,344
—

2,143
(2,143)

(487)
—

—
—

—
—

—
(2,467)

80,000
(4,610)

78,465

—

775

(209)

—

(1,958)

77,073

—

—

—

870

—

—

870

78,465
—

—
—

775
—

661
—

—
—

(1,958)
10,272

77,943
10,272

78,465
—

—
—

775
—

661
—

—
(2,980)

8,314
—

88,215
(2,980)

78,465

—

775

661

(2,980)

8,314

85,235

No dividends were declared in any of the periods presented above.
The notes on pages 42 to 47 form part of the Company financial statements.

Blackstar Annual Report and Accounts 2007

39

Company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2007

Notes

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary companies
Investments at fair value through profit and loss

3
4

50,799
39,923
90,722

73,127
3,042
76,169

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

7
8

504
1,087
1,591
92,313

418
635
1,053
77,222

Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Current liabilities
Trade and other accounts payable
Total liabilities
Total net assets

9

(5,767)

—

10

(1,311)
(7,078)
85,235

(149)
(149)
77,073

Equity
Share capital
Capital redemption reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Treasury shares
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to equity holders

11
11
11
11
11

78,465
775
661
(2,980)
8,314
85,235

78,465
775
(209)
—
(1,958)
77,073

The Company financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 18 March 2008.
Andrew Bonamour
Director
The notes on pages 42 to 47 form part of the Company financial statements.
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Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Notes
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash absorbed by operations
Interest received
Cash absorbed by operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from disposal of investments
Proceeds from redemption of investments
Cash generated/(absorbed) by investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares
Capital raising expenses
Buy back of ordinary shares
Cash (absorbed)/generated by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

12

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

(741)
13
(728)

(1,602)
1,578
(24)

(42,949)
1,460
45,649
4,160

(75,301)
522
—
(74,779)

—
—
(2,980)
(2,980)
452
635
1,087

80,000
(4,610)
—
75,390
587
48
635

The notes on pages 42 to 47 form part of the Company financial statements.
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1. Accounting policies
The financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985. As permitted by that Act,
the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(‘‘IFRSs’’) published by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘‘IASB’’) as endorsed for use by the European Union
and with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies preparing their accounts under IFRS.
Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of another
entity or business so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. Investments in subsidiary
companies are stated at cost less provisions where in the opinion of the Directors, there has been an impairment in the
value of the investment.
Except for the basis of consolidation, the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Company financial
statements are the same as those set out on pages 23 to 26 of the consolidated financial statements.

2. Profit for the financial year
The Parent Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and
has not presented its own profit and loss in these financial statements. The Group’s profit for the year includes a profit after
tax of £10,272,000 (2006 – £1,629,000) of the Parent Company.

3. Subsidiary companies
The principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December 2007 are as follows:

Name

Proportion of
Ownership

Method used to account
for investment

100%
100%
100%
100%

Consolidation
Consolidation
Consolidation
Consolidation

Blackstar (Cyprus) Investors Limited
Blackstar (Gibraltar) Limited
Illuminator Holdings Limited
Illuminator Investments Limited*
* The shares in Illuminator Investments Limited are held directly by Illuminator Holdings Limited

Book cost at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Redemptions during the year at cost
Book cost at the end of the year
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2007
£’000

2006
£’000

73,127
23,321
(45,649)
50,799

—
73,127
—
73,127

4. Investments at fair value through profit and loss
2007
£’000

2006
£’000

Book cost at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Disposals during the year at cost
Book cost at the end of the year

2,236
21,705
(2,257)
21,684

—
7,003
(4,767)
2,236

Fair value at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year at cost
Disposals during the year at cost
Net increase in the fair value of investments during the year
Currency exchange gains/(losses) on investments during the year
Fair value at the end of the year

3,042
21,705
(2,257)
16,563
870
39,923

—
7,003
(4,767)
1,015
(209)
3,042

The Company does not have a controlling interest in any of the investments at fair value through profit and loss. These
investments are monitored on a fair value basis and comprise the following:

Details
Derivative investment in a telecom company, which gives the Company exposure
to a minority interest in the underlying telecom company.
Ordinary shares in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited.
Ordinary shares in York Timber Organisation Limited.
Ordinary shares in a special purpose vehicle established to acquire an interest in
DCD-Dorbyl (Pty) Limited. The special purpose vehicle unwinds in 2014 or earlier
at the consent of the Company and other shareholders.
Ordinary shares in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited.*
Ordinary shares in Spescom Limited.
Ordinary shares in Adreach Group (Pty) Limited.
Ordinary shares in Mvelaphanda Resources Limited.
Carrying value at the end of the year

Fair value
2007
£’000

Fair value
2006
£’000

1,589
1,901
29,592

846
2,196
—

86
2,481
491
2,776
1,007
39,923

—
—
—
—
—
3,042

* The Company has provided security to ABSA Bank Limited over its ordinary shares in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited. Further details have been provided in note 14
to the Company financial statements.

5. Capital under management
Information related to capital under management is set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

6. Financial instruments – Risk management
The Company is exposed to one or more of the following financial risks:
•
•
•
•
•

Interest rate risk
Currency risk
Market price risk
Credit risk
Liquidity risk

Information related to financial instruments and management of these risks is set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements. The following information relates specifically to the Company.
A 1% decrease in the South African Prime Rate, all other variables held constant, would have resulted in an increase of
£12,000 in the reported net asset value of the Company. A 1% increase in the South African Prime, on the same basis,
would have resulted in a decrease of £11,000 in the reported net asset value of the Company.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2007

6. Financial instruments – Risk management (continued)
A 10% strengthening of the Rand against Sterling at the balance sheet date, all other variables held constant, would have
resulted in an increase of £2,214,000 in the reported net asset value of the Company. A 10% weakening of the Rand
against Sterling at the balance sheet date, on the same basis, would have resulted in a decrease of £1,811,000 in the
reported net asset value of the Company.
Assuming that the investment portfolio is directly correlated to the FTSE/JSE Africa All Share Index, an increase of 10%
in the FTSE/JSE Africa All Share Index at the balance sheet date, all other variables held constant, would have resulted in
an increase of £2,582,000 in the reported net asset value of the Company. A decrease of 10% in the FTSE/JSE Africa All
Share Index at the balance sheet date, on the same basis, would have resulted in a decrease of £2,582,000 in the reported
net asset value of the Company.
At balance sheet date, the Company had no financial assets that were past due or impaired. An industry analysis of the
investment portfolio, excluding investments in wholly owned subsidiaries is provided in the table below. No single industry
is considered to be more risky than another.

Forestry
Media
Industrial (Steel)
Telecommunications
Health Care
Resources
Engineering

Exposure
£’000

Exposure
Percentage

29,592
2,776
2,481
2,080
1,901
1,007
86

74%
7%
6%
5%
5%
3%
0%

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

458
46
504

412
6
418

7. Trade and other receivables

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

Other debtors include amounts receivable from wholly owned subsidiary companies of £35,000 (2006 – £6,000). The
Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to its fair value.

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in current accounts and cash deposits that mature within one week.
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9. Provisions
A provision has been raised for the performance fee payable by the Company under the terms of the investment advisory
agreement. The total performance fee is equal to 20% of the increase in the market value of investments of the Company,
subject to a 10% hurdle and making good any investment write-downs and general expenses.
A resolution was passed by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company held in February 2008 to
approve the net investment advisory agreement, whereby 50% of the performance fee is payable annually, subject to a high
watermark and the availability of cash resources and the remaining 50% of the performance fee will be payable within 14
days of the approval of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2012
or earlier, if the Company’s investments are realised prior to that date. Blackstar Managers Limited can elect to postpone
this fee payment for a further 12 month period, but cannot postpone the fee payment beyond 14 April 2015 (based on the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014). Following the passing of the
resolution, £2,883,500 of the performance fee will be payable on 18 March 2008. The movement in provisions was as
follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provisions during the year at cost
Balance at the end of the year

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

—
5,767
5,767

—
—
—

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

1,081
230
1,311

43
106
149

10. Trade and other accounts payable

Trade creditors
Accrued expenses

Trade creditors includes amounts payable to a wholly owned subsidiary company of £12,000 (2006 – nil). The Directors
consider that the carrying amount of trade and other accounts payable approximates to its fair value.

11. Share capital and reserves
Details of share capital and reserves are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

12. Cash absorbed by operations

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Increase in market value of investments
Realised gain on disposal of investments
Interest received
Performance fee payable
Changes in working capital
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other accounts payable
Cash absorbed by operations

2007
£’000

2006
£’000

10,272

1,629

(16,563)
(1,280)
(13)
5,767

(1,015)
(584)
(1,578)
—

(86)
1,162
(741)

(137)
83
(1,602)
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2007

13. Related party transactions
Details of related parties are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition the subsidiaries set out
in note 3 to the Company financial statements are related parties to the Company.
During the year, the Company subscribed for an additional 600 ordinary shares in Blackstar (Cyprus) Investors Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The consideration for 100 of these ordinary shares was a contribution of
preference shares in Main Street 488 (Pty) Limited and Main Street 493 (Pty) Limited (“York BEE SPVs”) held by the
Company to the said subsidiary amounting to £2,077,000. The remaining 500 of these ordinary shares were acquired for
an aggregate cash consideration of £21,244,000.
During the year, Blackstar (Gibraltar) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company redeemed 6,971 redeemable
B shares for an aggregate cash amount of £45,649,000.

14. Contingent liabilities
The following contingencies and guarantees exist at 31 December 2007:
•
•

the Company has provided security to ABSA Bank Limited over its ordinary shares in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty)
Limited to ABSA Bank Limited.
the Company has provided a guarantee in respect of funding facilities provide by ABSA Bank Limited to Kulungile
Metals Group (Pty) Limited for an amount not exceeding R125 million (£8.3 million).

These items have been provided as additional security to ABSA Bank Limited for the debt financing provided by ABSA Bank
Limited to Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited. In addition ABSA Bank Limited has security over the immovable and
movable property of Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited. It is not probable that such these items will result in an outflow
of resources required to settle an obligation.

15. Post balance sheet events
Disposal of shares in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited (“Myriad”)
The Company disposed of 2,350,000 shares in Myriad for R2.1 million (£156,000).

Disposal of investment in Kulungile Metals Group (Pty) Limited (“KMG”)
The Company has agreed to dispose of 3.05% of its ordinary shares in KMG for R2.1 million (£151,000). Completion of the
disposal is expected to take place in January 2008.

Loan facility from Investec Bank Limited (“Investec”)
The Company has arranged a loan facility from Investec for up to R100 million (£6.7 million). The Group has until
31 December 2008, to drawdown on these facilities, which must be repaid by 31 January 2012. The transaction is subject
to the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent, which are expected to be fulfilled during April 2008. As part of the
transaction, the Group has provided security to Investec over its ordinary shares in York Timber Organisation Limited, its
ordinary shares in Myriad Medical Holdings Limited and any of its shares in and claims against Credit U Holdings Limited,
acquired using the capital advanced by Investec in terms of the loan facility.

Credit U Holdings Limited formerly (“Credit U”)
The Company has agreed to provide Credit U (formerly Kagisano Group Holdings Limited) with a R100 million (£6.7 million)
loan facility, to be drawn down by 31 December 2008 and repaid by no later than 31 December 2011. As part of the
transaction, the Company will have the right and option at any stage up to 31 December 2011 to subscribe for a maximum
of 16,666,667 Credit U ordinary shares for cash at an issue price of R3.00 per share and thereafter Credit U will repay the
Company’s loan in an amount equal to the subscription price of the shares. The transaction is subject to the fulfilment of
certain conditions precedent, which are expected to be fulfilled during April 2008. Credit U is a financial services group
that targets the financial needs of clients in the lower income groups of South Africa with a broad range of financial
services products. These include credit products, cellular products, insurance products, employee benefits and other
financial solutions.
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Amendment to investment advisory fees
As the assets of the Company grow in size and the number of investments increase the Company’s investment advisor
requires more resources and a larger team. In addition, the widened investing strategy and the increased private equity
nature of the portfolio require a larger coverage team with additional operational skills. To ensure that the investment advisor
can meet these requirements, the Board of Directors has resolved to increase the investment advisory fees, in line with the
standard practice in the investment sector, from 2% of £80,000,000 (aggregate funds raised by the Company and available
for investment) to the greater of:
•
•

2% of £80,000,000 (aggregate funds raised by the Company and available for investment); or
2% of the total net assets of the Group as per the latest audited annual financial statements.

The Board of Directors considers, having consulted with Shore Capital and Corporate Limited, that the change in investment
advisory fees is fair and reasonable insofar as its shareholders are concerned.
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Company information

Principal place of Business
6 rue Adolphe Fischer
L-1520 Luxembourg
Tel: +352 (40) 25 05 449
Fax: +352 (40) 25 05 509
E-mail: info@blackstar.lu
Website: www.blackstar.lu

Investment Advisor
Blackstar Managers Limited
Rue du Puits-Godet 12
P O Box 763 CH-2002
Neuchatel
Switzerland

Registered Office
7th Floor, Phoenix House
18 King William Street
London EC4N 7HE

International Advisor
Maitland Advisory LLP
Berkshire House
168-173 High Holborn
London WC1V 7AA

Broker
Shore Capital Stockbrokers Limited
Bond Street House
14 Clifford Street
London W1S 4JU

Nominated Advisor
Shore Capital and Corporate Limited
Bond Street House
14 Clifford Street
London W1S 4JU

Solicitors to the Company (as to South African law)
Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs Inc
150 West Street
Sandton 2196
South Africa

Solicitors to the Company (as to English law)
Howard Kennedy
19 Cavendish Square
London W1A 2AW

Auditors
BDO Stoy Hayward LLP
2 City Place
Beehive Ring Road
Gatwick
West Sussex RH6 0PA
Bankers
ING Luxembourg S.A.
Goldman Sachs International
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
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Registrars and Receiving Agents
Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent BR3 4TU

Notice of meeting

Blackstar Investors PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registered number 2396996)
(R.C.S. Luxembourg number B114318)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of Blackstar Investors PLC (the ‘’Company’’) will be held
at 6 rue Adolphe Fischer, L-1520 Luxembourg on 13 May 2008 at 11.00 a.m. CET (or as soon thereafter as it may be held)
in the presence of a Luxembourg notary for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.

To receive and consider the accounts and reports of the directors, statutory auditor and the independent auditors, and
any other documents required by law to be attached or annexed to the accounts of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2007 and to the accounts for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007.

2.

To adopt the Company’s audited annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2007.

3.

To approve the directors’ remuneration report.

4.

To adopt the Group’s audited annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2007.

5.

To re-elect Wolfgang Baertz, who retires from office pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”), as a director of the Company.

6.

To re-elect Andrew Bonamour, who retires from office pursuant to the Articles, as a director of the Company.

7.

To re-elect Marcel Ernzer, who retires from office pursuant to the Articles, as a director of the Company.

8.

To re-elect John Mills, who retires from office pursuant to the Articles, as a director of the Company.

9.

To re-elect Julian Treger, who retires from office pursuant to the Articles, as a director of the Company.

10. To re-elect the Company’s statutory auditor and to authorise the directors to determine his remuneration.
11. To re-elect BDO Stoy Hayward LLP as the Company’s independent auditors and to authorise the directors to determine
their remuneration.
Directors’ authority to allot and issue shares
12. That, subject to the passing of Resolution 13 below, and in place of all existing powers, for the purposes of section
80 of the Companies Act 1985 (the ‘’Act’’) (and so that expressions used in this resolution shall bear the same meanings
as in the said section 80):
(i)

the directors be and are generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers of the Company to
allot and issue relevant securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £25,221,666 to such persons and at
such times and on such terms as they think proper during the period expiring on 13 August 2009 or, if sooner,
at the end of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2009; and

(ii)

the Company be and is hereby authorised to make prior to the expiry of such period any offer or agreement
which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after this expiry of the said period and the
directors may allot and issue relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding the
expiry of the authority given by this resolution, so that all previous authorities of the directors pursuant to the
said section 80 be and are hereby revoked and that the Articles be amended to reflect the effect of this
resolution.
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Notice of meeting continued

Disapplication of pre-emption rights
13. That, subject to the passing of Resolution 12 above, and in place of all existing powers, the directors be and are
empowered in accordance with section 95 of the Act to allot and issue equity securities (as defined in section 94 of
the Act) for cash, pursuant to the authority conferred on them to allot and issue relevant securities (as defined in
section 80 of the Act) by that resolution, as if section 89(1) and sub-sections (1) to (6) of section 90 of the Act did not
apply to such allotment and issue (i.e. the statutory pre-emption rights normally applying to the allotment and issue
of equity securities for cash be disapplied) provided that the power conferred by this resolution shall be limited to:
(i)

the allotment and issue of equity securities in connection with an issue or offering in favour of holders of equity
securities and any other persons entitled to participate in such issue or offering where the equity securities
respectively attributable to the interests of such holders and persons are proportionate (as nearly as may be)
to the respective number of equity securities held by or deemed to be held by them on the record date of such
allotment subject only to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may consider necessary or
expedient to deal with fractional entitlements or legal, or practical problems arising in connection with the laws,
or requirements of any recognised regulatory body or stock exchange in any territory; and

(ii)

the allotment and issue (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above) of equity securities up to an
aggregate nominal value not exceeding £3,783,250;

and this power, unless renewed, shall expire on 13 August 2009 or, if sooner, at the end of the annual general meeting
of the Company to be held in 2009, but shall extend to the making, before such expiry, of an offer or agreement which
would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot and issue equity
securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired and that the
Articles be amended to reflect the effect of this resolution.
Company’s authority to purchase its own shares
14. That the Company be and is generally authorised pursuant to section 166 of the Act to make market purchases (within
the meaning of section 163(3) of the Act) of its Ordinary Shares of £1 each on such terms and in such manner as the
directors shall determine, provided that:
14.1

the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 7,566,499;

14.2

the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be 5 per cent. above the average of the
middle market quotations for an Ordinary Share (as derived from the AIM appendix to the Daily Official List of
the London Stock Exchange plc) for the five business days immediately before the day on which the purchase
is made (in each case exclusive of expenses);

14.3

the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be 50 pence; and

14.4

this authority (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) shall expire on 13 August 2009 or, if sooner, at the
end of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2009 except in relation to the purchase of
Ordinary Shares the contract for which was concluded before such date and which will or may be executed
wholly or partly after such date and that the Ordinary Shares bought back in terms of this resolution be cancelled
at the relevant time and that any employee of Maitland Luxembourg S.A. be hereby appointed to appear before
a public notary in Luxembourg for the purpose of amending the Articles to reflect the changes resulting from
the cancellation of any Ordinary Shares bought back in accordance with the terms of this resolution.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
15. To the extent permitted by law, and in accordance with Article 37 of the Articles, to grant a discharge to the directors
in respect of the execution of their mandates to 31 December 2007.
16. To the extent permitted by law, and in accordance with Article 37 of the Articles, to grant a discharge to the statutory
auditor in respect of the execution of his mandate to 31 December 2007.
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17. To the extent permitted by law, and in accordance with Article 37 of the Articles, to grant a discharge to the
independent auditors in respect of the execution of their mandate to 31 December 2007.
18. To approve the continuation of the current investment strategy.
Resolutions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17 and 18 are to be proposed as ordinary resolutions and Resolutions
12, 13 and 14 as special resolutions. Resolutions 12, 13 and 14 require a 75 per cent majority by value of the Ordinary
Shares present or represented at the Annual General Meeting. In addition, in order to pass Resolutions 12, 13 and 14, a
quorum of more than half of the issued Ordinary Shares by value is required to be present or represented at the Annual
General Meeting. Resolutions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17 and 18 may be passed at the Annual General
Meeting by a simple majority representing more than 50 per cent by value of the Ordinary Shares. The quorum requirement
in relation to Resolutions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17 and 18 is at least two Members present or represented
at the Annual General Meeting.
In accordance with Luxembourg law the Annual General Meeting cannot be adjourned if there is no quorum. Accordingly,
if at the Annual General Meeting (the ‘’First Meeting’’) the aforesaid quorum requirement of more than half of the issued
Ordinary Shares by value is not present Resolutions 12, 13, and 14 will not be proposed and will, therefore, not be capable
of being passed. The Board of Directors may then decide to convene a subsequent General Meeting (the “Second Meeting”)
to re-consider Resolutions 12, 13 and 14, (and any other Resolutions not passed at the First Meeting), for which a further
notice of meeting will be sent to the Members in accordance with the Articles.
The quorum requirement in relation to all the Resolutions at the Second Meeting will be at least two Members present or
represented at the Second Meeting.
If Resolutions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17 and 18 are not passed at the First Meeting, they can be passed at
the Second Meeting by a simple majority representing more than 50 per cent by value of the Ordinary Shares.
At the Second Meeting Resolutions 12, 13 and 14 can be validly adopted by a majority of 75 per cent by value of the
Ordinary Shares present or represented.
By order of the Board
28 March 2008
Registered Office
7th Floor, Phoenix House
18 King William Street
London EC4N 7HE
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Notes:
1.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote at
the meeting instead of him. The proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend the meeting in order to represent
his appointor. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint the Chairman or another person as his proxy
although the Chairman will not speak for the member. A member who wishes his proxy to speak for him should appoint his own
choice of proxy (not the Chairman) and give instructions directly to that person.

2.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint more than one proxy provided that each proxy is appointed
to exercise rights attached to different shares.

3.

To be valid, a Form of Proxy and the power of attorney or other written authority, if any, under which it is signed or an office or
notarially certified copy or a copy certified in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 of such power and written authority,
must be delivered to Capita Registrars (Proxies), PO Box 25, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4BR not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the Form of Proxy proposes to vote. In the
case of a poll taken more than 48 hours after it is demanded, the document(s) must be delivered as aforesaid not less than 24 hours
before the time appointed for taking the poll, or where the poll is taken not more than 48 hours after it was demanded, the
document(s) must be delivered at the meeting at which the demand is made.

4.

The register of interests of the directors and their families in the share capital of the Company and copies of contracts of service of
directors with the Company or with any of its subsidiary undertakings will be available for inspection at the registered office of the
Company and at the principal place of business of the Company in Luxembourg during normal business hours (Saturdays and
public holidays excepted) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting.

5.

Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the time by which a person must be entered on the
register of members in order to have the right to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is 6.00 p.m. (CET) on 11 May 2008
(being not more than 48 hours prior to the time fixed for the meeting) or, if the meeting is adjourned, such time being not more than
48 hours prior to the time fixed for the adjourned meeting. Changes to entries on the register of members after that time will be
disregarded in determining the right of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

6.

Any corporation that is a member of the Company may, by resolution of its directors or other governing body, authorise any person
it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting.

7.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for
the Annual General Meeting to be held on the above date and at any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in
the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have
appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take
the appropriate action on their behalf.
In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a
“CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and
must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether
it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order
to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s agent (ID: RA10) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy
appointments specified in the notice of meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by
the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the
message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed
through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland
Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations
will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to
take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s),
to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message
is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable,
their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning
practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.
The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001.
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Form of proxy

Blackstar Investors PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registered number 2396996 and registered office at
7th Floor, Phoenix House, 18 King William Street, London EC4N 7HE)
(R.C.S. Luxembourg number B114318)
FORM OF PROXY
For use at the Annual General Meeting to be held in the presence of a Luxembourg notary at 6 rue Adolphe Fischer, L-1520, Luxembourg, on 13
May 2008 at 11.00 a.m. (CET)
Please read the notice of Annual General Meeting and the explanatory notes below before completing this form.
I/We ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
(Please insert full name in block capitals)
Of ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
(Please insert address in block capitals)
being (a) member(s) of Blackstar Investors PLC (the ‘’Company’’), hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting,
or ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ (see Note 1)
as my/our proxy, to attend and vote for me/us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 11.00 a.m. CET on 13 May 2008 and at any
adjournment of that meeting. I/We direct the proxy to vote in relation to the resolutions referred to below as follows (see Notes 3 and 4):
Resolutions

For

Against

Withheld

1 To receive and consider the accounts and reports of the directors, statutory auditor and the
independent auditors and any other documents required by law to be attached or annexed to the
accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007 and to the accounts for the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2007.
2 To adopt the Company’s audited annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December
2007.
3 To approve the directors’ remuneration report.
4 To adopt the Group’s audited annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2007.
5 To re-elect Wolfgang Baertz as a director of the Company.
6 To re-elect Andrew Bonamour as a director of the Company.
7 To re-elect Marcel Ernzer as a director of the Company.
8 To re-elect John Mills as a director of the Company.
9 To re-elect Julian Treger as a director of the Company.
10 To re-elect the Company’s statutory auditor and to authorise the directors to determine his
remuneration.
11 To re-elect the Company’s independent auditors and to authorise the directors to determine their
remuneration.
12 To authorise the directors to allot and issue ordinary shares up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £25,221,666 in the capital of the Company and the amendment of the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company to reflect the effect of Resolution 12.
13 To authorise the disapplication of statutory pre-emption rights in the case of an allotment and
issue of shares by the directors in accordance with Resolution 13 and the amendment of the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company to reflect the effect of Resolution 13.
14 To authorise the Company to purchase its own shares and that the shares bought back in terms
of Resolution 14 be cancelled at the relevant time and that any employee of Maitland
Luxembourg S.A. be appointed to appear before a public notary in Luxembourg for the purpose
of amending the memorandum and articles of association of the Company to reflect the changes
resulting from the cancellation of any shares bought back in accordance with the terms of
Resolution 14.
15 To grant a discharge to the directors in respect of the execution of their mandates to 31
December 2007.
16 To grant a discharge to the statutory auditor in respect of the execution of his mandate to 31
December 2007.
17 To grant a discharge to the independent auditors in respect of the execution of their mandate to
31 December 2007.
18 To approve the continuation of the current investment strategy.
Please indicate below whether or not you intend to be present at the meeting. This information is sought for administrative purposes only and will not affect
your right to attend the meeting, notwithstanding any indication to the contrary.

I will be attending the Meeting

I will not be attending the Meeting

Signature .................................................................................................................................................. Date .......................................................................
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1.

If it is desired to appoint any other person as a proxy, the words ‘’the Chairman of the Meeting, or’’ should be struck out and the name and address
of the other person inserted in block capitals in the space provided. A member may appoint more than one proxy to attend and vote on the same
occasion. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend the meeting in person. Any alteration should be initialled. If you submit a
valid Form of Proxy without inserting the name of your chosen proxy, then the Chairman of the Meeting will act as your proxy.

2.

The manner in which the proxy is to vote should be indicated by marking either ‘’For’’, ‘’Against’’ or “Withheld”; if neither is marked, the proxy will
vote or abstain at his/her discretion. The “Withheld” option is provided to enable you to abstain on any particular resolution. However it should be
noted that a “Withheld” vote is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the proportion of the votes “For” and “Against” a
resolution.

3.

In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes
of the other joint holders and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members.

4.

A corporation’s Form of Proxy must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of a duly authorised officer or attorney or by two directors
or a director and the company secretary.

5.

Use of this form does not preclude a member from attending and voting in person.

6.

To be valid, a Form of Proxy and the power of attorney or other written authority, if any, under which it is signed or an office or notarially certified copy
or a copy certified in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 of such power and written authority, must be delivered to Capita Registrars
(Proxies), PO Box 25, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4BR not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at
which the person named in the Form of Proxy proposes to vote. In the case of a poll taken more than 48 hours after it is demanded, the document(s)
must be delivered as aforesaid not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for taking the poll, or where the poll is taken not more than 48 hours
after it was demanded, the document(s) must be delivered at the meeting at which the demand is made.

7.

In respect of members voting via CREST, please refer to the notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting.
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